RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

11-27-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent.

V.

Appeal No. 2017AP000797 - CR Lower Court Case No. 2015CF001075

Terrance L. Egerson,

Defendant-Appellant

Appeal Of A Judgment Of Conviction Dated May 2, 2016 (Amended September 1, 2016), And An Order Denying A Post-Conviction Motion To Vacate The Judgment Dated March 30, 2017, Milwaukee County Circuit Court Branch 36, The Honorable Jeffrey A. Kremers, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE DEFENDANT/APPELLANT

Prepared by: Robert E. Haney State Bar No. 1023054

Law Shield of Wisconsin, LLC

ISSUES PRESENTED

Did the trial court err as a matter of law when it ignored the requests by Mr. Egerson to represent himself?

Trial court: No.

Did the trial court error when it denied Mr. Egerson's postconviction motion to vacate the judgment of conviction because it ignored the invocation of Mr. Egerson's right to represent himself?

Trial court: No.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Neither oral argument nor publication is appropriate in this matter. This case only requires the application well established legal principles.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Egerson brings this case before this court praying that the trial court's ruling on his post-conviction motion to vacate his judgment of conviction because he was denied his 6th Amendment right to represent himself be reversed, the judgment vacated, and the case remanded to the circuit court for further proceedings.

On March 10, 2015, a three count complaint was filed in the circuit court for Milwaukee County charging Terrence Egerson with Knowingly Violate A Domestic Abuse Injunction, Domestic Abuse Assessments, Repeater, Domestic Abuse Repeater, in violation of §§813.12(4) and (8)(a), 973.055(1), 939.62(1)(a), 939.62(1)(b) and (2) Wis. Stats., Intentionally Contact Victim, Witness Or Co-Actor After Court Order For A Felony Conviction, Repeater, Domestic Abuse Repeater, Domestic Abuse Assessment, in violation of §§941.39(1),

939.50(3)(h), 939.62(1)(b), 939.621(1)(b) and (2), 973.055(1) Wis. Stats., and, Stalking - Previous Conviction W/In 7 Years, Repeater, Domestic Abuse Repeater, Domestic Abuse Assessments in violation of §§940.32(2m)(b), 939.50(3)(h), 939.62(1)(b), 939.621(1)(b) and (2), 973.055(1) Wis. Stats.. R2, pp. 1-3.

At the initial appearance, the court commissioner dismissed Count 3, Stalking, because the State failed to include, in the probable cause section of the complaint, the basis to sustain the element that there was a threat of bodily harm or against the safety of the alleged victim. R52, pp. 2-5. At the time of the preliminary hearing, an amended complaint was filed correcting that error. R53, pp. 3-5.

Regarding Count 1, the State alleged that, on December 11, 2014, after a restraining order had been granted to Mr. Egerson's wife prohibiting him from having contact with her, she

received a letter at her address at 2321 North 58th Street, in the City of Milwaukee, Milwaukee County, Wisconsin from defendant. The return address listed the defendant being in Dodge Correctional institution, and had his name on the envelope and was directly address to [her]. Also the letter inside was handwritten and [she] identified the handwriting as the defendant's. The letter asks her to drop the restraining order in 13FA1617 which ... has been served upon the defendant.

R6, pp. 7-8.

Regarding Count 2, the State alleged that the above referenced letter was sent after Mr. Egerson had been convicted

of Bail Jumping - Felony in case 13CF3152, among other crimes in 13CF1401, 13CF1860, 13CF3435, and 14CF189 the defendant was

sentenced to prison and to have no contact with [his wife] as an order of that sentence which [was] still in effect.

R6, pp. 7-8.

Regarding the third count of the amended complaint, the State alleged Mr. Egerson sent additional letters to his wife on December 19, 2014, January 7, 2015, January 15, 2015, and February 9, 2015 which caused his wife to lose sleep, increase her therapy, screen her telephone calls and be worried about what is coming in the mail. R6, pp. 7-8.

Following the preliminary hearing, the court commissioner found probable cause to believe that a felony had been committed by Mr. Egerson within the jurisdiction of the court and bound him over trial. R53, p.18.

Mr. Egerson entered pleas of not guilty to the same three counts contained in the information that the State filed. R7; R57, pp. 2-4.

On April 28, 2015, the defense filed a Motion To Dismiss Count 3 For Violation Of The 1st Amendment, the gravamen being that the stalking statute, as applied, was overly broad, and thus unconstitutional. R11. The Department of Justice was notified of the motion pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 806.04(11), and informed the court in writing that it would not address the issue unless it came before the Court of Appeals. R13. The State filed a Response to the Motion (R15) to which the defense filed a Reply Brief (R16).

On August 21, 2015, the Hon. Jeffery Kremers heard additional arguments of counsel on the matter and ruled on the motion in favor of the State. R59, pp. 28-29.

THE COURT; Okay. I am satisfied that this Statute is constitutionally on its face and as applied. I don't think the statement of defense has met its burden in challenging it from either

perspective think if that, and I'm not convinced that there is a unanimity issue. But if there is, or there is an issue with respect to the definition of true threat, those are all things that can be addressed in the jury instructions and are more properly addressed once we know exactly what evidence has been proffered by the state, admitted into evidence and is available for consideration by the fact finder, whether that is a jury or the court. So, I'm going to deny the defendant's motion.

R59, pp. 28-29.

Judge Kremers also denied defense counsel's motion to withdraw as counsel for Mr. Egerson; counsel, not Mr. Egerson, initiated the motion over a disagreement as to whether the ADA handling the case needed to be disqualified because he was the sole witness to some of the behavior alleged in the Amended Complaint. R59, pp. 2-8.

Immediately after Judge Kremers denied Mr. Egerson's motion to dismiss the case on constitutional grounds, the State filed an amended information which increased the number of charges from three to eleven. R17; R59, p. 29. The new charges were based on fingerprint verification regarding the letters referenced in the criminal complaint, with additional charges of intentionally contacting the victim with regard to each letter that was sent. R17; R59, p.29. (The Information would be amended twice more before the case went to trial. R25; R26.)

On October 14, 2015, counsel for Mr. Egerson filed a motion to withdraw from the case. R18. That motion was heard by the court on October 26, 2015. R60.

ATTORNEY SINGLETON: Thank you, Your Honor. The plain way that I see this case at this point is that our attorney/client relationship has been irreparably destroyed. I don't think there's

anything left of it to this point and there are various reasons why I can point to that. But the facts are, remain that it is so frustrated at this point that I do not believe that I can effectively discharge or safeguard Mr. Egerson's Sixth Amendment right to counsel.

I don't believe he has sufficient faith in my efforts or in my abilities to do so, and the consequence to that is that he's made my--my attempts I think at this point are frustrating his rights. He now takes my communications to him and he has been sharing them at least with the Office of Lawyer Regulation, which is fine, it's his right. However, that does create a problem with me now when I put something in writing that I'm cognizant of the fact it is going to be outside of the third--of the privilege of a--of my client.

He is communicating with the media against my agreement. He is allegedly preparing motions that he wishes to file on his own behalf because he doesn't believe that I am adequately capable of safeguarding his interest. He believes that I'm working in concert with the District Attorney's Office as opposed to representing his rights. Whether these things are accurate, obviously I don't believe that they are, they are his unyielding beliefs at this point as to my representation of him, and that are causing him to act in ways that are against his own interests. And so at this point my own actions I feel are dilatory to his case at this point because my staying on as counsel causes him to act against his own interests.

And so that is a problem. It is a problem that that there is a--once I've been OLR'd that I'm--there's a perception that I may be acting in my own

interests rather than his interests, which creates a--a perception that there is a conflict of interest. I'm not saying there is. I'm still attempting to, you know, even by this motion, advance his interests in this case.

This isn't dilatory, we have asked for absolutely no adjournments in this case. Every adjustment that has occurred there have been failures to get Mr. Egerson to court. The prior court wished to move a motion out of this court's calendar so the court that was overseeing the case could hear it. However, we haven't attempted to adjourn at all. And I have not been able to adequately meet with him to prepare for trial because of these ongoing issues.

You know, there--as the State notes, there is, you know, a new conduct now that apparently needs to be investigated, so I think the State would be seeking an adjournment anyway on those grounds. We would be seeking an adjournment because I don't believe that I have been able to communicate with him sufficiently. And there's-- the State apparently has an apparent conflict next week with next week's trial date anyway. And so I think it's not likely to create an undue, you know, delay in this case even at this point, as there are other reasons that this case should be delayed.

R60, pp. 4-7.

After listening to counsel and Mr. Egerson regarding their respective positions on the motion, the following exchange took place.

THE COURT: I'm going to let you have another lawyer. You think you know so much more about trial strategy and how to prepare a case and

how to get ready for trial, we'll see how you do with your next lawyer. But here's the thing, Mr. Egerson. You're heading down a slope, based on this record, where you're going to find yourself have a--find yourself in a position were a court says you're waiving your right to counsel and you're going to be representing yourself, which would be the biggest mistake of your life. So--

THE DEFENDANT: I understand.

. . . .

THE DEFENDANT: There is a lot of discovery that I received in my first cases, which if you're going to show a course of conduct on the stalking charge, there's discovery that the State hasn't turned over to--

THE COURT: Mr. Egerson, you're not the lawyer of record in this case. I'm not interested in--

THE DEFENDANT: Well, you know what, Your Honor, let me represent myself and have co-counsel then.

THE COURT: No.

THE DEFENDANT: It seems like every time I try to do something that's benefiting me, every time there's a problem he--he's--I've been having a problem with [ADA] Nick Heitman ever since, I've been charged with 24 counts, man.

THE COURT: Mr. Egerson--

THE DEFENDANT: Let me represent myself and have no counsel.

T'HE COURT: Better think about that one.

THE DEFENDANT: I'm sick of him, man. I'm tired of Mr. Heitman charging me with hard charges. He's just continuing to charge me. I'm doing six years for bail jumping.

THE CLERK: November 6th.

THE COURT: November 6th for new counsel.

ATTORNEY HEITMAN: Thank you.

(End of proceedings.)

R60, pp. 9-11 (bold emphasis added).

Following that hearing, and prior to the appointment of new counsel, Mr. Egerson filed a Motion to Dismiss Counts 4 thru 11, Due to Violation of Due Process Clause and Prosecutorial Vindictiveness, which was received by the court on November 2, 2015. R19.

At the next hearing, after informing the State and Mr. Egerson's new attorney of the motion, the court concluded that it would order that Mr. Egerson would be produced for all future hearings and that the court would not consider the pro se motion unless counsel decided to pursue it. R61, p. 3.

On December 16, 2015, the court received a letter from Mr. Egerson expressing dissatisfaction with his new counsel, Attorney Gary Rosenthal; and asking that he again be appointed new counsel. R20.

The case proceeded to trial on April 4, 2016. R84. At that time, the State filed its final Amended Information. R26. The amended information charged Mr. Egerson with six counts, 1, 3,4, 5, and 6 were separate counts of Knowingly Violate a Domestic Abuse Order, Domestic Abuse Assessments, Repeater, Domestic Abuse Repeater, in violation of §§

813.12(8)(a), 973.055(1), 939.62(1)(a), Wis. Stats., and count 2 charged Mr. Egerson with Stalking - Previous Conviction within 7 Yrs, Repeater, Domestic Abuse Assessments, Domestic Abuse Repeater, in violation of §§ 940.32(2m)(b), 939.62(1)(b), 939.621(1)(b)&(2), and 973.055(1), Wis. Stats. R20. Mr. Egerson entered pleas of "Not guilty" to those charges, and the trial began. R63, pp. 5-6.

The trial concluded on April 6, 2016, with the jury finding Mr. Egerson guilty on all six counts. R67: pp. 3-10. The Honorable Jeffrey A. Kremers sentenced Mr. Egerson on April 26, 2016. R36. That judgment was amended on September 1, 2016, following the receipt of a letter from the Department of Corrections by the court with some concerns about the judgment as written. R40; R38.

On February 21, 2017, a post-conviction motion was filed moving for an order vacating the judgment and resetting the matter for trial based on the failure of the court to allow Mr. Egerson to proceed *pro se* when he requested to do so. R41. Following briefing by the State and defense counsel, the court denied the motion on March 30, 2017, in a written opinion, stating

[T]he court finds that Egerson's statements were indeed qualified, not unequivocal, and were made in the context of the discussion being had with the court at the time about his ability (or inability) to obtain the discovery in his case (see full record). His statements were not sufficiently clear and unequivocal to require the court to advise him of the right to self-representation which would have triggered its duty to make findings that the defendant knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily waived his right to counsel and that he was competent to represent himself at trial. The defendant was merely expressing dissatisfaction with his lawyer and trying to remedy what he believed his lawyer was not doing for him.

. . .

The fact that Egerson accepted new counsel and never requested to represent himself again supports the court's findings in this regard. The court agrees with the State that the defendant's request to proceed on his own is not akin to the clear and unequivocal requests made in *Imani v. Pollard*, 826 F. 2rd 939 (7th Cir. 2016)1 or in *United States v. Joseph Banks*, 14-3461 (7th Cir. 7/8/16).

R46, pp. 3-4.

Mr. Egerson now appeals the judgment of conviction and the order denying him post-conviction relief.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred as a matter of law in ignoring Mr. Egeson's motion to represent himself and is therefore entitled to have the judgment of conviction vacated and the case remanded to the circuit court for further proceedings.

A. Mr. Egerson Has A Fundamental Sixth Amendment Right To Self-representation

In Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S.Ct. 2525 (1975), the Supreme Court established that the Sixth Amendment—by its text, structure, and history—guarantees to every criminal defendant the "right to proceed without counsel when he voluntarily and intelligently elects to do so." 422 U.S. 806, 807 (1975). The Court has repeatedly emphasized that "respect for the individual . . . is the lifeblood" of our Constitution. E.g., Illinois v. Allen, 397 U.S. 337, 350-51, 90 S.Ct. 1057, 25 L.Ed.2d 353 (1970), (Brennan, J., concurring).

Thus, even though in most criminal cases a defendant would be better served with the assistance of counsel "than by [his] own unskilled efforts," an individual's choice to represent himself generally "must be honored out of 'that respect for the individual." *Faretta*, 422 U.S. at 834 (*quoting Allen*, 397 U.S. at 350-51).

When a defendant knows the risks of forgoing counsel and voluntarily elects to assume those risks, the principle of individual liberty—enshrined in the Constitution—commands that his decision be respected, in order that he may present his defense. Even to his detriment, a criminal defendant remains the captain of his own fate.

The facts of Faretta were simple. Weeks before trial, Mr. Faretta requested to represent himself because he "believed that the [public defender's] office was 'very loaded down with . . . a heavy case load." Id. (ellipses in original). The trial court warned that "it was a mistake not to accept the assistance of counsel," that "Faretta would be required to follow all the 'ground rules' of trial procedure," and that there were legal rules and procedures that Mr. Faretta likely would not comprehend, even with a high-school education, because he was not trained in the law. Id. at 808 n.2, 835-36. After preliminarily allowing Mr. Faretta to represent himself, the court sua sponte denied Mr. Faretta's request after questioning him on evidentiary and procedural rules and not being satisfied with his answers or demeanor. Id. at 808-10.

The Supreme Court reversed. As the Court explained, both the text and the structure of the Sixth Amendment endow a criminal defendant with a constitutional right to self-representation at trial.

The amendment "does not provide merely that a defense shall be made for the accused; it grants to the accused personally the right to make his defense." Id. at 819 (emphasis added).

Since Faretta, the Supreme Court has reaffirmed that the "core of the Faretta right" is the defendant's ability to have "actual

control over the case[]... present[ed] to the jury." McKaskle v. Wiggins, 465 U.S. 168, 178, 104 S.Ct. 944, 79 L.Ed.2d 122 (1984). He must "be given the right to challenge the State's case against him using the arguments he sees fit." Indiana v. Edwards, 554 U.S. 164, 184, 128 S.Ct. 2379, 171 L.Ed.2d 345 (2008) (Scalia, J., dissenting) (emphasis in original) (discussing Faretta). And he must either have consented to counsel's representation or be allowed to represent himself pro se. Otherwise, "the defense presented is not the defense guaranteed him by the Constitution, for, in a very real sense, it is not his defense." Faretta, 422 U.S. at 821 (emphasis added).

To ensure that a defendant "truly wants" to represent himself, id. at 817, the Supreme Court has drawn a few specific and narrow limits around the fundamental right to self-representation. The defendant must timely and unequivocally request self-representation, and his decision to waive the right to counsel must be voluntary, knowing and intelligent, competent, and not for obstructionist purposes. *Id.* at 834-36 & n.46.

Any tension that existed in Wisconsin caselaw and the Constitution was recently resolved in a series of cases involving a defendant named Rashaad Imani. *See State v. Imani*, 771 N.W.2d 379, 2009 WI App 98, 320 Wis. 2d 505 (Wis. App., 2009), *State v. Imani*, 2010 WI 66, 326 Wis.2d 179, 786 N.W.2d 40 (Wis., 2010), *Imani v. Pollard* (W.D. Wis., 2014) ¹, and *Imani v. Pollard*, 826 F.3d 939 (7th Cir., 2016).

The relevant procedural history for this case was succinctly set forth by the Seventh Circuit thusly:

...Rashaad Imani tried to exercise his right to represent himself in a criminal prosecution in the Wisconsin state courts. The trial judge prevented

¹ A true and correct copy of the slip opinion from Western District of Wisconsin, although cited only as part of the procedural history of Mr. Imani's case, is included in the Appendix to this Brief.

him from doing so. Imani was convicted at a trial in which he was represented by a lawyer he did not want. A divided Wisconsin Supreme Court affirmed his conviction, finding that Imani was not competent to represent himself and had not made a sufficiently knowing and voluntary choice to do so. That decision was an error. Further, it was contrary to and an unreasonable application of clearly established federal law as determined by United States Supreme Court decisions....

Imani v. Pollard, 826 F.3d 939, 941-42, (7th Cir., 2016).

Prior to his jury trial, Imani expressed to the court that he was dissatisfied with his current counsel, and that for a variety of reasons Imani believed that he would rather represent himself, even though he had only a 10th grade education, and that the case involved several complex legal issues including an identification suppression motion. 826 F.3d. at 942. In acknowledging to the trial court that he was not as "'eloquent in speech'" as his attorney, Imani told the court he wanted to represent himself because, "'ain't nobody going to represent myself better than me.'" 826 F.3d. at 942.

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