RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **02-09-2018**

COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP797-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

TERRANCE LAVONE EGERSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. KREMERS, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

JACOB J. WITTWER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041288

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

875 F.2d 1441, 1444 (9th Cir. 1989)). "A defendant who vacillates at trial between wishing to be represented by counsel and wishing to represent himself could place the trial court in a difficult position." *Id.* (quoting *Adams*, 875 F.2d at 1444.) "If the court appoints counsel, the defendant could, on appeal, rely on his intermittent requests for self-representation in arguing that he had been denied the right to represent himself; if the court permits self-representation, the defendant could claim he had been denied the right to counsel." *Id.* "The requirement of unequivocality resolves this dilemma by forcing the defendant to make an explicit choice. If he equivocates, he is presumed to have requested the assistance of counsel." *Id.*

Stated differently, "a rule requiring the defendant's request for self-representation to be unequivocal is necessary in order to protect the courts against clever defendants who attempt to build reversible error into the record by making an equivocal request for self-representation." *People v. Marshall*, 931 P.2d 262, 272 (Cal. 1997).

When a defendant does clearly and unequivocally invoke the right to self-representation, the trial court must engage the defendant in a colloquy to ensure that he or she has validly waived counsel and is competent to proceed pro se. *See Klessig*, 211 Wis. 2d at 203.

The proper remedy for the trial court's failure to conduct such a colloquy is not automatic reversal and retrial, but remand for a retrospective evidentiary hearing. *Klessig*, 211 Wis. 2d at 206–07, 213–14. In some circumstances, it may be difficult to hold such a hearing into the defendant's waiver of the right to counsel and competence to go pro se. *Id.* at 213. But "[i]f the circuit court concludes that it can conduct such an inquiry, then it must hold an evidentiary hearing" on the issues to be resolved. *Id*.

B. Egerson's statements about representing himself were equivocal.

At the October 26, 2015, motion hearing, Egerson made two statements about proceeding pro se. (R. 60:10–11, A-App. 310–11.) As the postconviction court properly concluded, neither of these statements is a clear and unequivocal invocation of the right to self-representation.

The first statement—"let me represent myself and have co-counsel," (R. 60:10, A-App. 310)—is a facially equivocal request for self-representation because it is mixed with a request for counsel. And no right exists to so-called "hybrid" representation under the federal or state constitutions. *State* v. Debra A.E., 188 Wis. 2d 111, 137–38 & n.26, 523 N.W.2d 727 (1994); *Moore v. State*, 83 Wis. 2d 285, 297–302, 265 N.W.2d 540 (1978).

The second statement—"let me represent myself and have no counsel"—references self-representation only.³ (R. 60:11, A-App. 311.) But, as developed below, it is also not an unequivocal request for self-representation because the circumstances support a reasonable inference that the request did not reflect a clear choice to forgo counsel and proceed pro se for the duration of the proceedings.

Egerson's statements about self-representation immediately followed the court's announcement that it would grant Attorney Singleton's motion to withdraw and appoint substitute counsel. And, by all indications Egerson favored the court's appointment of substitute counsel.

³ For purposes of this analysis, the State assumes that the court denied this request for self-representation. In its alternative argument, see pages 19–21 below, the State maintains that the court did not deny Egerson's request, but held it in abeyance. Egerson then forfeited his self-representation claim by not raising his request again at a later proceeding.

At the October 2015 motion hearing, the parties assumed that the court would order the appointment of substitute counsel if it granted Attorney Singleton's motion— Singleton, for example, speculated about how Egerson might get along with "next counsel." (*See, e.g.*, R. 60:7, A-App. 307.) Immediately after Singleton's reference to "next counsel," the court requested Egerson's feedback on the motion, and Egerson said nothing about representing himself. (*See* R. 60:7–8, A-App. 307–08.) He merely complained about Singleton's performance. (R. 60:8, A-App. 308) ("I just basically feel that the representation that Mr. Singleton has been giving me has been totally deficient. . . .").

When the court first announced that it would be appointing substitute counsel, Egerson did speak up—but not to object to the appointment of counsel; he said that he, like the court, had been "impressed" with Singleton. (R. 60:9, A-App. 309.) When the court reiterated its decision to appoint new counsel, Egerson likewise did not object. (R. 60:9, A-App. 309.) And when the court warned Egerson that his failure to get along with substitute counsel could result in forfeiture of the right to counsel and "representing yourself, which would be the biggest mistake of your life," Egerson responded, "I understand." (R. 60:9, A-App. 309.)

The State submits that Egerson's clear acceptance of the court's appointment of substitute counsel renders equivocal his statements made *moments later* about proceeding pro se.

An analogous situation was presented in *United States* v. Brooks, 532 F. App'x. 670, 671–72 (9th Cir. 2013). There, on the day of trial, Brooks asked to represent himself. *Id.* at 671. But following a *Faretta* colloquy, Brooks changed his mind and decided to proceed with counsel. *Id.* at 672. Then, just before the jury was to be brought in, Brooks changed his mind again and declared that he wished to represent himself. *Id.* On its face, Brooks's request was apparently unambiguous. But it was summarily denied by the trial court, and the appellate court affirmed. *Brooks*, 532 F. App'x. at 672. Brooks's acceptance of counsel, the appellate court explained, and his request to represent himself "minutes later" showed that "Brooks equivocated and did not make an unequivocal request for self-representation." *Id.* "Brooks's inconsistent positions did not present the unequivocal request necessary to overcome this presumption and invoke his right to selfrepresentation." *Id.*

Likewise, Egerson clearly accepted (if not explicitly chose) representation by counsel just before he asked to represent himself. Egerson's sudden request to represent himself was not unequivocal in light of his prior acceptance of the appointment of new counsel moments earlier.

Significantly, the record also shows that Egerson's request was a knee-jerk response to being denied the opportunity to argue a potential pretrial issue. For this reason as well, it was not an unequivocal request to proceed pro se at trial.

Egerson made his request in direct response to the court's refusal to hear him on a claim that the State was withholding discovery. Leading up that request, the court became impatient with Egerson and ordered him to stop talking. Egerson said that he never called the victim; the court responded "[t]hat's what you're expecting this court to believe right now?" (R. 60:8, A-App. 308.) Egerson then volunteered that he, like the court, was "impressed" with Attorney Singleton (despite just calling Singleton "totally deficient"); the court responded, "Mr. Egerson, you're done talking this morning." (R. 60:8–9, A-App. 308–09.)

Then, when Egerson tried to argue that the State was withholding discovery, the court cut him off and said that it "wasn't interested" and that Egerson "wasn't lawyer of record." (R. 60:10, A-App. 310.) Frustrated with the court's refusal to hear him out, Egerson interrupted the court and said, "Well, you know what, Your Honor, let me represent myself...then." (R. 60:10, A-App. 310.)

While no published Wisconsin decision has addressed a similar request, multiple jurisdictions have held that demands for self-representation that are impulsive and borne out of frustration are not clear and unequivocal. *See Adams*, 875 F.2d at 1444 (a trial court may summarily deny a request for self-representation that is "a momentary caprice or the result of thinking out loud").

In Jackson v. Ylst, 921 F.2d 882, 888–89 (9th Cir. 1990), the defendant asked to represent himself after a California court denied his request for substitute counsel at sentencing. The court denied his request, and a federal appellate court upheld this decision on habeas review, concluding that Jackson's request was untimely and equivocal. Id. "Jackson's request," the court explained, "was an impulsive response to the trial court's denial of his request for substitute counsel." Id. at 888. "Jackson's emotional response when disappointed by the trial court's denial of his motion for substitute counsel did not demonstrate to a reasonable certainty that he in fact wished to represent himself." Id. at 889. See also Reese v. Nix, 942 F.2d 1276, 1281 (8th Cir. 1991) (no denial of right to selfrepresentation where defendant's request was an expression of frustration with denial for request for substitute counsel); People v. Hacker, 167 A.D.2d 729, 730 (N.Y. App. Div. 1990) (same).

Similarly, the Tenth Circuit upheld a Colorado court's determination that a defendant's "impulsive" request to represent himself that was "borne of frustration with" trial delays was not an unequivocal demand for self-representation. *Love v. Raemisch*, 620 F. App'x 642, 648 (10th Cir. 2015). And the California Supreme Court noted in *Marshall* that courts have held that "a motion [for self-

representation] made out of a temporary whim, or out of annoyance or frustration, is not unequivocal—even if the defendant has said he or she seeks self-representation." *Marshall*, 931 P.2d at 271 (collecting cases). There, the California court held that a defendant's self-representation request made out of frustration with the trial court's order that defendant provide blood and bodily tissue samples was not unequivocal. *Id.* at 271, 274.

Here, Egerson had just accepted the appointment of new counsel. But he suddenly asked to represent himself after the court refused to hear his argument on a pretrial discovery issue. The transcript shows that Egerson was frustrated after being shut down by the court—both on the discovery issue and moments earlier when the court ordered him to stop talking. And so he made a spur-of the-moment request to go pro se so as to be heard on the issue at hand. Indeed, the circumstances support a reasonable inference that Egerson wanted only to represent himself on the discovery issue and not for the duration of the proceedings in his case. Egerson's request was an impulsive response to his frustration with the court's refusal to hear his motion, and thus was not an unequivocal request to proceed pro se.

Egerson argues that the trial court's denial of his selfrepresentation request is contrary to the Seventh Circuit's decision in *Imani v. Pollard*, 826 F.3d 939 (7th Cir. 2016), which he presents as controlling authority. (Egerson's Br. 12–15, 18–23.) Egerson's heavy reliance on *Imani* is misplaced.

To be clear, the Seventh Circuit's *Imani* decision is not controlling authority in Wisconsin state courts. "[F]ederal decisions are not binding on state courts in Wisconsin. [The Wisconsin courts] are bound only by the United States Supreme Court on questions of federal law." *State v. King*, 205 Wis. 2d 81, 93, 555 N.W.2d 189 (Ct. App. 1996) (citation omitted). In fact, the Wisconsin Supreme Court's decision in State v. Imani, 2010 WI 66, 326 Wis. 2d 179, 786 N.W.2d 40 the one the Seventh Circuit criticized in Imani v. Pollard in ordering Imani a new trial—is still binding on Wisconsin courts, and will remain so until or unless the Wisconsin Supreme Court disavows its Imani decision.

That said, the State does not argue that the differences between the Wisconsin Supreme Court and Seventh Circuit decisions in *Imani* matter to the outcome of this case. *Imani* simply has little application here. As developed below, the supreme court's decision in *Imani* did not address whether Imani's request to go pro se was sufficient to invoke the right to self-representation; the parties assumed that it was. *See Imani*, 326 Wis. 2d 179. And the Seventh Circuit's decision which addressed the reasonableness of the supreme court's conclusions that Imani's waiver of counsel was invalid and that Imani was not competent to represent himself—does not conflict with the cases discussed earlier holding that a trial court may deny as equivocal an impulsive or reactive demand for self-representation.

In *Imani*, the defendant, dissatisfied with his attorney's performance, asked to represent himself after the court denied a defense motion to suppress evidence. *Imani*, 326 Wis. 2d 179, ¶¶ 7–8. Imani criticized his lawyer's performance at the suppression hearing and complained that the lawyer had not yet fully investigated the circumstances of the State's analysis of fingerprint evidence. *Id.* ¶ 8. Imani then said that, "having been through this with about three lawyers" he thought he could best represent himself at trial. *Id.* "[A]in't nobody going to represent myself better than me. I've been dealing with this case for over a year now and I'm pretty sure I got a fuller defense prepared that I've been preparing myself, you know, with the help of my lawyers, you know...." *Id.*

The trial court then engaged Imani in an abbreviated *Klessig* colloquy, treating Imani's statement as an

unequivocal statement of the right to self-representation. Imani, 326 Wis. 2d 179, ¶¶ 9–10. In the trial court and on appeal, the State never raised the threshold issue of whether Imani's statement was sufficient to invoke the right to selfrepresentation, and thus this issue was not litigated in Imani. See Imani, 326 Wis. 2d 179.

As framed by the Wisconsin Supreme Court, the issues in *Imani* were whether Imani had validly waived his right to counsel, and whether Imani was competent to represent himself. *Imani*, 326 Wis. 2d 179, ¶ 3. The Wisconsin Supreme Court answered both of these questions no, and thus upheld the trial court's order denying Imani's request to go pro se. *Id*. The court said that Imani's waiver was invalid in part because his request was "flippant" and "episodic driven" and thus inconsistent with a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary waiver of counsel. *Id*. ¶¶ 27–28. And Imani was not competent to represent himself because, essentially, he had only a tenth grade education. *Id*. ¶ 38.

Reviewing the *Imani* decision in federal habeas, the Seventh Circuit held that, once Imani properly invoked his right to self-representation, the state courts could not deny the request on grounds it was "foolish" or "rash." Imani, 826 F.3d at 945. Because Imani's request was assumed to be unequivocal in the state (and federal) courts, the federal appellate court did not address whether, on the threshold inquiry of whether a self-representation request is unequivocal, a trial court may summarily deny the request on grounds it is impulsive or borne out of frustration. See Imani, 826 F.3d 939. The Seventh Circuit's *Imani* decision is thus not inconsistent with the many cases from other jurisdictions holding that an impulsive or reactive request may be equivocal, and thus fail to invoke the right to selfrepresentation. And this decision is therefore of little assistance to Egerson.

For these reasons, the postconviction court properly concluded that Egerson's request to represent himself was not unequivocal, and thus the trial court properly denied it without conducting a *Klessig* colloquy.

C. Alternatively, the trial court held Egerson's request to go pro se in abeyance, and Egerson forfeited his self-representation request by failing to pursue it in later proceedings.

If this Court disagrees with the State and the postconviction court and concludes that Egerson's request was sufficient to invoke his right to self-representation, it may nonetheless affirm on alternative grounds. *State v. Holt*, 128 Wis. 2d 110, 125, 382 N.W.2d 679 (Ct. App. 1985) ("An appellate court may sustain a lower court's holding on a theory or on reasoning not presented to the lower court."). As argued below, the trial court did not rule on Egerson's request to represent himself, effectively holding the motion in abeyance. Egerson then forfeited the right to make a self-representation claim by failing to seek a ruling on his request to represent himself in later proceedings.

Egerson—and, to be fair, the postconviction court assume(d) that the trial court denied Egerson's request to represent himself. The trial court did deny Egerson's first request—"let me represent myself and have co-counsel" with a flat "no." (R. 60:10–11, A-App. 310–11.) But, as noted, that request did not invoke the right to self-representation because it sought "hybrid" representation. *See Debra A.E.*, 188 Wis. 2d at 137–38 & n.26.

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